Before the
Administrative Hearing Commission
State of Missouri





JOHN FARRAR,	)
		)
		Petitioner,	)
			)
	vs.		)		No. 08-0912 RA
			)
MISSOURI REAL ESTATE APPRAISERS	)
COMMISSION, 		)
			)
		Respondent.	)


DECISION 

	We grant John Farrar’s application to become a certified residential real estate appraiser.
Failure to File an Answer to Amended Complaint

	Farrar filed a complaint on May 6, 2008, challenging the Missouri Real Estate Appraisers Commission’s (“MREAC”) decision denying his application for licensure as a certified residential real estate appraiser.  The MREAC filed an answer to the complaint on June 11, 2008.  	On September 18, 2008, Farrar filed a motion for leave to file an amended complaint by consent.  On September 19, 2008, we issued an order granting the motion for leave to file an amended complaint and deeming the amended complaint filed as of September 19, 2008.  Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.380(5) provides:  
The respondent shall file an answer to an amended complaint within the latest of:  




(A) Ten (10) days after service of the amended complaint; or

(B) The time remaining for filing an answer to the original complaint; or

(C) Ten (10) days after the date of an order granting leave to file the amended complaint.  

However, the MREAC did not file an answer to the amended complaint.  
	Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.380(7) provides: 
Failure to File.

(A) The commission, on its own motion or that of any party, may order a remedy for respondent’s failure to file an answer or other responsive pleading, or failure to otherwise comply with this rule, as set forth at rule 1 CSR 15-3.425.

*   *   * 

(C) In addition to the remedies set forth in rule 1 CSR 15-3.425, remedies under this section may include an order the respondent is deemed to have—

1.  Admitted the facts pleaded in the complaint; 

2.  Waived any defense to the complaint; 

3.  Defaulted on any issue raised in the complaint.  

Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.425 provides: 

(1) The commission may impose a sanction on any party for conduct including, without limitation, such party’s failure to: 

(A) Comply with any order or rule of the commission, including failure to file an answer; 

*   *   * 

(2) Sanctions available under this rule include without limitation: 

(A) Striking all or any part of the party’s pleading; 

(B) Deeming all or any part of an opposing party’s pleading admitted; or



(C) Barring or striking all or any evidence on any issue. 

(3) The commission shall determine whether to impose any sanction, and the appropriate degree of such sanction, based on the facts of each case.  

	It is inexcusable for a licensing agency, which is represented by counsel, to fail to file an answer as required by our rules.  When an applicant for licensure files a complaint to appeal a licensing agency’s decision, the agency’s answer is supposed to provide due process notice of the grounds for denial of the application.[footnoteRef:1]  However, under Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.380(7) and Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.425, a sanction is within the discretion of this Commission.  Review of applications for professional licensure is an important function, and in order to protect the public, we conclude that we should conduct a review on the merits of this case.  We decline to impose a sanction in this case, even though it would be warranted.  Because the amended complaint does not contain much more detail than the original complaint, we will refer to the answer to the original complaint to determine the agency’s position.     [1: 	Ballew v. Ainsworth, 670 S.W.2d 94, 103 (Mo. App., E.D. 1984).] 

Hearing and Written Arguments
	This Commission convened a hearing on the complaint on January 29, 2009.  Jeremy Root, with Stinson Morrison Hecker, LLP, represented Farrar.  Assistant Attorney General Kevin Hall represented the MREAC.  The parties filed written arguments on March 9, 2009.  
Findings of Fact
	1.  In 2002, Farrar lived with roommates.  Farrar and his roommates had a “party” lifestyle.  Farrar, then 27 years old, had used marijuana since he was 13 or 14 and had used cocaine for approximately one year.  Farrar sold cocaine to friends.  



	2.  In 2002, Farrar was arrested in a raid of the house where he lived.  Farrar fully cooperated with authorities and thought the matter was dropped.  Shaken by the incident, Farrar moved out of the house and dissociated himself from people who used drugs.  Farrar 
began working for Keeven Appraisal.  Farrar enjoyed the work and found that the people who worked there had a better lifestyle than what he was accustomed to.  Farrar changed his lifestyle and stopped using illegal drugs.  Farrar formed a relationship with the woman to whom he is now married.    
	3.  In 2004, Farrar was surprised that federal authorities again became interested in the incident from 2002 and arrested him again to pursue charges from the incident.  
	4.  Ronald Keeven, owner of Keeven Appraisal, was surprised to learn of Farrar’s past lifestyle.  Keeven wrote a positive recommendation letter to the United States District Judge requesting that Farrar be given leniency.  Keeven stated that he knew Farrar to be honest and trustworthy.   
	5.  On March 4, 2004, a grand jury returned an indictment in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Missouri.  Count One charged: 
Beginning at a time unknown, but including January 2002 and continuing thereafter to and including the date of this indictment, with the exact dates unknown to this Grand Jury, in St. Louis County, within the Eastern District of Missouri and elsewhere, 

BRIAN C. FARACE,
KURT D. WALLRAUCH,
BRIAN P. KLENC,
BRYAN P. STRATHMANN, and
JOHN J. FARRAR,

the Defendants herein, did knowingly and willfully conspire, combine, confederate and agree together with each other, and other persons known and unknown to this Grand Jury, to commit offenses against the United States to wit:  to distribute and possess with intent to distribute a substance or mixture containing cocaine, 




a Schedule II narcotic controlled substance drug, in violation of Title 21, United States Code, Section 841(a)(1).

All in violation of Title 21, United States Code, Section 846; and

The quantity of cocaine involved in the offense was in excess of 500 grams, punishable under Title 21, United States Code, Section 841(b)(1)(B)(ii).  

	6.  On May 3, 2004, Farrar pled guilty to Count One.  Due to Farrar’s substantial assistance to the authorities in investigating the crime, the United States Attorney filed a motion pursuant to § 5K1.1 to depart from the sentencing guidelines.  On July 29, 2004, the court granted the motion and entered its judgment sentencing Farrar to probation for two years and a criminal monetary penalty of $100.  
	7.  Farrar never violated the terms of his supervised release, and all conditions imposed by the court were satisfied, including chemical drug testing.  Farrar’s supervised release was completed on July 28, 2006.  Farrar did not attend church when he was involved with drugs, but he now attends church.      
	8.  On July 10, 2007, Farrar applied to the MREAC to become a certified residential appraiser.  Farrar disclosed the 2004 guilty plea on his application.  Farrar’s application shows that he has at least 120 hours of real estate appraisal courses.  Farrar paid the required fee,  passed the examination required to become a state-certified residential real estate appraiser, and demonstrated that he has a sufficient number of hours of appraisal experience to satisfy the prerequisites for certification.  
	9.  On April 23, 2008, the MREAC denied Farrar’s application on the basis of his guilty plea, finding that Farrar had not demonstrated proof of good moral character or a good reputation for honesty, integrity and fair dealing.   



Conclusions of Law
	We have jurisdiction to hear Farrar’s complaint.[footnoteRef:2]  The applicant has the burden to show that he or she is entitled to licensure.[footnoteRef:3]  We decide the issue that was before the MREAC,[footnoteRef:4] which is the application.  We exercise the same authority that has been granted to the MREAC.[footnoteRef:5]  Therefore, we simply decide the application de novo.[footnoteRef:6]   [2: 	Section 621.045, RSMo Supp. 2008.  Statutory references, unless otherwise noted, are to RSMo 2000.]  [3: 	Section 621.120.  ]  [4: 	Department of Soc. Servs. v. Mellas, 220 S.W.3d 778 (Mo. App., W.D. 2007).]  [5: 	J.C. Nichols Co. v. Director of Revenue, 796 S.W.2d 16, 20 (Mo. banc 1990).]  [6: 	State Bd. of Regis’n for the Healing Arts v. Finch, 514 S.W.2d 608, 614 (Mo. App., K.C.D. 1974).  ] 

I.  Qualifications for Licensure
	In its answer to the original complaint, the MREAC argues that Farrar fails to meet the requirements for licensure because he is not of good moral character and does not bear a good reputation for honesty, integrity and fair dealing.  The MREAC does not dispute that Farrar otherwise meets the requirements for licensure.  Farrar’s application shows that he has at least 120 hours of real estate appraisal courses.[footnoteRef:7]  The MREAC stipulated that Farrar meets the examination[footnoteRef:8] and experience[footnoteRef:9] requirements.  The MREAC raises no issue as to Farrar’s competence.[footnoteRef:10]    [7: 	Regulation 20 CSR 2245-6.010.  ]  [8: 	Regulation 20 CSR 2245-6.015(1)(B).  ]  [9: 	Regulation 20 CSR 2245-3.010(5)(B). ]  [10: 	Section 339.511.3; 20 CSR 2245-3.010(1), (3) and (5).  ] 

	Section 339.511.2 provides:  
Persons desiring to obtain licensure as a state-licensed real estate appraiser or certification as a certified residential or certified general real estate appraiser shall make written application to the commission on such forms as are prescribed by the commission setting forth the applicant’s qualifications for licensure or certification and present to the commission satisfactory proof that the person is of good moral character and bears a good reputation for honesty, integrity and fair dealing. 




The MREAC argues that because of his guilty plea, Farrar is not a person of good moral character and does not bear a good reputation for honesty, integrity and fair dealing.  
Good moral character is honesty, fairness, and respect for the law and the rights of others.[footnoteRef:11] Reputation is not a person’s actions; it is “the general opinion . . . held of a person by those in the community in which such person resides[.]”[footnoteRef:12] The MREAC presented no evidence as to Farrar’s reputation, and thus nothing showing that Farrar does not have a good reputation.  On the contrary, Keeven, his former employer, found Farrar to be honest and trustworthy.   [11: 	Hernandez v. State Bd. of Regis’n for Healing Arts, 936 S.W.2d 894, 899 n.1 (Mo. App., W.D. 1997).]  [12: 	State v. Ruhr, 533 S.W.2d 656, 659 (Mo. App., K.C.D. 1976) (quoting Black’s Law Dictionary, Rev. 4th ed. 1467-68)).  ] 

	Section 314.200 provides:  
No board or other agency created pursuant to laws of the state of Missouri, or by any city, county or other political subdivision of the state, for the purpose of licensing applicants for occupations and professions may deny a license to an applicant primarily upon the basis that a felony or misdemeanor conviction of the applicant precludes the applicant from demonstrating good moral character, where the conviction resulted in the applicant's incarceration and the applicant has been released by pardon, parole or otherwise from such incarceration, or resulted in the applicant being placed on probation and there is no evidence the applicant has violated the conditions of his probation.  The board or other agency may consider the conviction as some evidence of an absence of good moral character, but shall also consider the nature of the crime committed in relation to the license which the applicant seeks, the date of the conviction, the conduct of the applicant since the date of the conviction and other evidence as to the applicant's character.

The federal court sentenced Farrar to probation for two years and a criminal monetary penalty of $100.  Farrar successfully completed his probation with no violations.  The Missouri Court of Appeals has stated that “[t]he obvious purpose of Sec. 314.200 . . . is to allow people who have committed crimes, and have paid their debt to society to return to that society as productive 



citizens.”[footnoteRef:13]  The Missouri Court of Appeals has also recognized that various factors are relevant in determining whether an applicant has been rehabilitated:[footnoteRef:14]   [13: 	Missouri Real Estate Comm’n v. Berger, 764 S.W.2d 706, 711 (Mo. App., E.D. 1989).  ]  [14: 	State Bd. of Regis’n for the Healing Arts v. Finch, 514 S.W.2d 608, 613-14 (Mo. App., K.C.D. 1974).  See also State Bd. of Regis’n for the Healing Arts v. DeVore, 517 S.W.2d 480, 486 (Mo. App., K.C.D. 1974).] 

Whether or not the discretion shall be exercised in favor of admitting Dr. Finch to licensure depends on many factual elements.  For example, the Board itself recognizes in its letter of denial that the precise nature of the felony makes a difference.  So, also, different results may ensue depending upon the amount of time spent in prison, the period of time which has expired since release from prison, the exact nature of the conduct and attitudes evidenced by the applicant since the conviction, the applicant’s present reputation in the community, and perhaps many other elements.  In any event, the discretion as to whether the applicant is to be admitted cannot be exercised wisely or even reasonably except as a natural consequence of a consideration and determination of the entire factual congeries.  

	The crime to which Farrar pled guilty is not related to the real estate appraiser profession.  The incident occurred in 2002, and Farrar successfully completed probation almost three years ago.  Farrar has established that he has changed his lifestyle and his associations.  There is nothing to show that Farrar is not currently a person of good moral character.  We conclude that Farrar meets all requirements for licensure, including good moral character.  
II.  Exercise of Discretion
	The MREAC argues that there is cause to deny Farrar’s application under § 339.532, RSMo Supp. 2008:
1.  The [MREAC] may refuse to issue or renew any certificate or license issued pursuant to sections 339.500 to 339.549 for one or any combination of causes stated in subsection 2 of this section. . . .

2.  The [MREAC] may cause a complaint to be filed with the administrative hearing commission as provided by chapter 621, RSMo, against any state-certified real estate appraiser, state-licensed real estate appraiser, or any person who has failed to 




renew or has surrendered his or her certificate or license for any one or any combination of the following causes:

*   *   *

(4) The person has been finally adjudicated and found guilty, or entered a plea of guilty or nolo contendere, in a criminal prosecution under the laws of any state or the United States, for any offense reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or 
duties of any profession licensed or regulated pursuant to sections 339.500 to 339.549 for any offense of which an essential element is fraud, dishonesty or an act of violence, or for any offense involving moral turpitude, whether or not sentence is imposed[.]

21 U.S.C. § 841(a) provides:  
Except as authorized by this subchapter, it shall be unlawful for any person knowingly or intentionally—

(1) to manufacture, distribute, or dispense, or possess with intent to manufacture, distribute, or dispense, a controlled substance[.]

21 U.S.C. § 846 provides:  

Any person who attempts or conspires to commit any offense defined in this subchapter shall be subject to the same penalties as those prescribed for the offense, the commission of which was the object of the attempt or conspiracy.  

	In its answer to the original complaint, the MREAC asserts that the crime of conspiracy to distribute is reasonably related to the functions or duties of the certified residential real estate appraiser profession.  We find no correlation between the crime of conspiracy to distribute a controlled substance and the functions or duties of the residential real estate appraiser profession.  
	The MREAC’s answer also asserts that the criminal offense to which Farrar pled guilty involved moral turpitude.  Moral turpitude is:
an act of baseness, vileness, or depravity in the private and social duties which a man owes to his fellowman or to society in general, contrary to the accepted and customary rule of right and duty 




between man and man; everything “done contrary to justice, honesty, modesty, and good morals.”[[footnoteRef:15]] [15: 	In re Frick, 694 S.W.2d 473, 479 (Mo. banc 1985) (quoting In re Wallace, 19 S.W.2d 625 (Mo. banc 1929)).  ] 


	In Brehe v. Missouri Dep’t of Elementary and Secondary Education,[footnoteRef:16] a case that involved discipline of a teacher’s certificate under § 168.071 for committing a crime involving moral turpitude, the court referred to three classifications of crimes:[footnoteRef:17] [16: 	213 S.W.3d 720 (Mo. App., W.D. 2007).]  [17: 	Id. at 725 (quoting Twentieth Century-Fox Film Corp. v. Lardner, 216 F.2d 844, 852 (9th Cir. 1954)).] 

(1) crimes that necessarily involve moral turpitude, such as frauds (Category 1 crimes);
(2) crimes “so obviously petty that conviction carries no suggestion of moral turpitude,” such as illegal parking (Category 2 crimes); and
(3) crimes that “may be saturated with moral turpitude,” yet do not involve it necessarily, such as willful failure to pay income tax or refusal to answer questions before a congressional committee (Category 3 crimes).
	“Courts invariably find moral turpitude in the violation of narcotics laws.”[footnoteRef:18]  Drug law violations are in contravention of Missouri’s historical standards of decency and good morals.   [18: 	Frick, 694 S.W.2d at 479.   ] 

We agree that the crime of conspiracy to distribute involves an act of vileness and depravity and is a Category 1 crime.   
	Farrar meets the requirements for licensure, but a statutory basis for denial exists under 
§ 339.532, which provides that the MREAC “may” refuse to issue a license for a guilty plea to a crime involving moral turpitude.  “May” means an option, not a mandate.[footnoteRef:19]  The appeal vests in this Commission the same degree of discretion as the MREAC, and we need not exercise it in the same way.[footnoteRef:20]  A person with a criminal history may show rehabilitation by acknowledging guilt  [19: 	S.J.V. ex rel. Blank v. Voshage, 860 S.W.2d 802, 804 (Mo. App., E.D. 1993).  ]  [20: 	Finch, 514 S.W.2d at 614.] 




and embracing a new moral code.[footnoteRef:21]  Farrar accepts responsibility for his past actions and has adopted a new lifestyle for the past seven years.  Farrar has shown that he is rehabilitated and is a person of good moral character.  The primary purpose of professional licensing laws is to protect the public.[footnoteRef:22]  We find no reason to deny Farrar’s application.   [21: 	Francois v. State Bd. of Regis’n for the Healing Arts, 880 S.W.2d 601, 603 (Mo. App., E.D. 1994).  ]  [22: 	Lane v. State Comm. of Psychologists, 954 S.W.2d 23, 25 (Mo. App., E.D. 1997).  ] 

Summary
	We grant Farrar’s application to become a certified residential real estate appraiser.
	SO ORDERED on April 9, 2009.


		________________________________
		NIMROD T. CHAPEL, JR.
		Commissioner
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